

**Northern Territory Mental Health**

**Coalition Incorporated**

Northern  
Territory  
Mental Health  
Coalition  
Incorporated



NORTHERN TERRITORY  
**MENTAL HEALTH**  
COALITION

# Constitution & Rules of the Association

# **MHC CONSTITUTION AND RULES OF THE ASSOCIATION**

---

Published and printed by

NT Mental Health Coalition Incorporated

Document originally created by

NT Mental Health Coalition Incorporated

PO Box 1128

Nightcliff NT 0814

T: (08) 8948-2665

F: (08) 8948-4590

Edited and Reviewed by

Phil Dempster

October 2009

---

Reviewed and Revised February 2015 by Louise Mayclair

Interim Executive Officer

Northern Territory Mental Health Coalition

Changes accepted 10 March 2015 at NTMHC Special General Meeting

## Table of Contents

1. Name .....	5
2. Mission .....	
3. The Objects of the Coalition .....	5
4. Powers.....	5,6
5. Rules of the Coalition .....	6,7
6. Effect of the Constitution.....	7
7. Membership of the Coalition .....	7,8
8. Income and Property .....	9
9. Accounts and Audit.....	10
10. Annual General Meeting.....	10
11. Special General Meetings.....	11
12. Notice of General Meetings .....	11
13. Business and Quorum at General Meetings.....	11,12
14. President to preside at General Meetings.....	12
15. Adjournment of General Meetings.....	12
16. Determination of Questions arising at General Meetings .....	12
17. Votes .....	12
18. Taking of Poll.....	12
19. When Poll to be Taken .....	13
20. Public Officer .....	13
21. Management of Affairs of the Coalition .....	13
22. Officers of the Board.....	13,14
23. General Powers and Duties of the Board .....	14
24. Composition of Board of Directors.....	14
25. Election of Officers and Members of the Board .....	14,15
26. Leave of Absence.....	15
27. Vacation of Office .....	15
28. Meetings of the Board .....	15,16
29. Disclosure of Interest in Contracts.....	16
30. The Executive Committee .....	16,17
31. Annual Subscription.....	17
32. Financial Year.....	17
33. Notices.....	17
34. Expulsion of Members .....	17,18
35. Alteration of the Constitution.....	18
36. Common Seal.....	18
37. Winding Up .....	19
38. Grievance and Dispute Resolution .....	19,20

# MHC CONSTITUTION AND RULES OF THE ASSOCIATION

---

## 1. NAME

- 1.1 The name of the Association shall be the ***Northern Territory Mental Health Coalition Incorporated*** hereinafter referred to as “the Coalition”.

## 2. MISSION

- 2.1 The mission of the Coalition is to promote an awareness and understanding of mental health issues throughout the NT community and to strive towards the development of an equitable and just society for those who are affected by mental illness.

## 3. THE OBJECTS OF THE COALITION

- 3.1 To promote and assist the development of all aspects of mental health throughout the NT.
- 3.2 To provide to organisations, services and support such as training, a resource base, research and consultation relating to social mental health issues.
- 3.3 To contribute to the debate on social mental health issues.
- 3.4 To ensure the Coalition is representative on a sector wide and regional basis in the NT as well as representing the interests of members.
- 3.5 To promote and make representations on behalf of mental health groups and those disadvantaged in the NT community by mental health & social policy decisions.
- 3.6 To be the peak organisation providing a focal point for the community sector and a reference point for government on all issues related to mental health.
- 3.7 To provide advice and policy input on mental health issues to all levels of government and other appropriate organisations on behalf of the NT community sector.
- 3.8 To contribute an NT perspective to the national mental health networks.

## 4. POWERS

- 4.1 In addition to the basic objects of the Coalition, the objects and purposes of the Coalition shall be deemed to include:
- 4.1.(i) the purchase, taking on lease or in exchange, and the hiring or otherwise acquiring of any real or personal property that may be deemed necessary or convenient for any of the objects or purposes of the Coalition;
- 4.1.(ii) the buying, selling, and supplying of and dealing in goods of any kind;
- 4.1.(iii) the construction, maintenance, and alteration of building or works necessary or convenient for any of the objects or purposes of the Coalition;
- 4.1.(iv) the accepting of any gifts, whether subject to a special trust or not, for any one or more of the objects or purposes of the Coalition;

- 4.1.(v) the taking of such steps from time to time as the Board of Directors or the members in a general meeting may deem expedient for the purposes of procuring contributions to the funds of the Coalition, whether by way of donation, subscription or otherwise;
- 4.1.(vi) the printing and publishing of such newspapers, periodicals, books, leaflets, or other documents as the Board of Directors or the members in a general meeting may think desirable for the promotion of the objects or purposes of the Coalition;
- 4.1.(vii) subject to the Act, the borrowing and raising of money in such manner and on such terms as the Board of Directors may think fit or as may be approved or directed by resolution passed a general meeting and securing the repayment of money so raised or borrowed or the payment of a debt or liability of the Coalition by giving mortgages, charges or securities upon or over all or any of the real or personal property of the Coalition;
- 4.1.(viii) subject to the provisions of the Trustee Act, the investment of any moneys of the Coalition not immediately required for any of its objects or purposes in such manner as the committee may from time to time determine;
- 4.1.(ix) the making of gifts, subscriptions, or donations to any of the funds authorities or institutions to which paragraph (a) subsection (1) of section 78 of the Income Tax Assessment Act 1936, as amended of the Commonwealth relates;
- 4.1.(x) the establishment and support, or aiding in the establishment and support of associations, institutions, funds, trusts, schemes, and convenience calculated to benefit servants or past servants of the Coalition and their dependants, and the granting of pensions, allowances or other benefits to servants or past servants of the Coalition and their dependants, and the making of payments towards insurance in relation to any of those purposes; and
- 4.1.(xi) the doing of all such other lawful things as are incidental or conducive to the attainment of the basic objects of the Coalition or any of the objects and purposes specified in the foregoing provisions of this rule.

## 5. RULES OF THE COALITION

- 5.1 In these rules, unless the contrary intention appears;
  - 5.1.(i) 'general meeting' means a general meeting of members convened in accordance with rules 12 and 13.
  - 5.1.(ii) 'Director' means member of the Board of Directors to whom rule 24 relates.
  - 5.1.(iii) 'Executive' means Officers of the Board of Directors.
  - 5.1.(iv) 'Board of Directors' means the elected representatives of the Coalition.
  - 5.1.(v) 'Executive Officer' means the officer employed by the Coalition.
  - 5.1.(vi) 'Act' means the *Associations Act 2003* and regulations made under that Act.

- 5.2 In these rules, expressions referring to writing shall, unless the contrary intention appears, be construed as including references to printing, email, lithography, photography, and other modes of representing or reproducing words in a visible form.
- 5.3 Words or expressions contained in these rules shall be interpreted in accordance with the provisions of the Interpretation Act and that Act as in force on the date on which these rules are adopted by the Coalition.

## 6. EFFECT OF THE CONSTITUTION

- 6.1 This constitution binds every member and the Coalition to the same extent as if every member and the Coalition had signed and sealed this Constitution and agreed to be bound by it.
- 6.2 If there is any inconsistency between this Constitution and the Act, the Act prevails.

## 7. MEMBERSHIP OF THE COALITION

- 7.1 Membership of the Coalition shall be within the following three classes of membership, and members will be willing to support the mission, values and objectives of the Coalition
- 7.1.(i) **Organisational Membership** shall be open to non-government organisations and community managed organisations who are engaged in social, community or mental health services in the Northern Territory. A maximum of one representative from each organisation on the board in order to represent the Mental Health community sector fairly in the Northern Territory.
- 7.1.(ii) **Individual Membership** is any person who supports the objects of the organisation and has an active interest in mental health services in the Northern Territory. If a member joins as an individual where their organisation is already represented by membership under the category of Organisational Membership, the individual member waives their right to vote.
- 7.1.(iii) **Associate Membership** status shall be open to corporate bodies whether government or non-government which support but are not engaged in the NT non-government, community managed and or local government social and community service sector. Associate members are not entitled to vote or move motions and are ineligible for election to the Coalition's Board of Directors.
- 7.2 A nomination for membership of the Coalition shall be made in writing on the prescribed form, and lodged at the office of the Coalition. Lodgements can be done in person, by post, or by electronic mail.
- 7.3 Upon a nomination being received, the Executive Officer will notify the nominee in writing that the application has been received and is undergoing consideration by the Board. Once the nomination has been accepted and upon receipt of the sum payable by or on behalf of the nominee as their first year's subscription, the Executive Officer will ensure the members name is entered in a register of member to be kept by the organisation.
- 7.4 A member of the Coalition may, at any time, resign from the Coalition by delivering or sending by post or email to the Executive Officer a written notice of resignation. The

## MHC CONSTITUTION AND RULES OF THE ASSOCIATION

---

member will forfeit any membership fees paid if resignation occurs after 6 months of membership dues being paid to the Coalition.

- 7.5 Upon receipt of a notice rule 7.4, whereupon that member ceases to be a member of the Coalition, the Executive Officer shall ensure the resignation date is noted in the members' register.

### Members Register

The Coalition will maintain a members register with the following information:

- a. Name
- b. Postal address, phone number, and email address
- c. Date on initiation and cessation of membership
- d. Particulars of payment of membership fees
- e. Class of Membership

- 7.6 A right, privilege, or obligation of an individual by virtue of their membership of the Coalition:

- (i) is not capable of being transferred or transmitted to another individual; and
- (ii) terminates upon the cessation of membership, whether by death, resignation, or otherwise.

- 7.7 Membership ceases if:

- (i) the Executive Officer receives a written resignation from a member;
- (ii) a member fails to renew membership in accordance with rule 31.3;
- (iii) a majority of all members vote at an Annual General Meeting to expel a member.

- 7.8 Each financial member is entitled to have a proxy act on their behalf. The proxy, also a financial member, is appointed to act under the directions of the member they are representing.

- 7.9 No Director or other member of the Coalition shall be liable to contribute towards the payment of the liabilities of the Coalition upon the winding up of the Association.

## 8. INCOME AND PROPERTY

- 8.1 The income and property of the Coalition, however derived, shall be applied solely towards the promotion of the objects of the Coalition and no portion thereof shall be paid or transferred, directly or indirectly, by dividend, bonus, or otherwise, to any member of the Coalition.
- 8.2 The Coalition shall not:
- 8.2.(i) appoint a person who is a member of the Coalition to any office to the holder of which there is payable any remuneration by way of salary, fees, or allowances; or
  - 8.2.(ii) pay to any such person any remuneration or other benefit in money or money's worth (other than re-payment of out of pocket expenses).
- 8.3 Nothing in the foregoing provisions of this rule prevents the payment in good faith to an employee or member of the Coalition of:
- 8.3.(i) remuneration in return for services rendered to the Coalition by the employee or member for goods supplied to the Coalition by the employee or member in the ordinary course of business;
  - 8.3.(ii) interest at current bank overdraft rate on money lent; or
  - 8.3.(iii) a reasonable and proper sum by way of rent for premises let to the Coalition by the employee or member.

## 9. ACCOUNTS AND AUDIT

- 9.1 The responsibility of the Board under rule 21 for ensuring compliance with the Act includes meeting the requirements of Part 5 of the Act and regulations made for that Part relating to:
- 9.1.(i) the keeping of accounting records
  - 9.1.(ii) the preparation and presentation of the Coalition's annual statement of accounts; and
  - 9.1.(iii) the auditing of the Coalition's accounts
- 9.2 The Treasurer of the Coalition shall faithfully ensure that all general records, accounting books, and records of receipt and expenditure connected with the operations and business of the Coalition are kept in such form and manner as the Board of Directors may direct.
- 9.3 The accounts, books and records referred to in rule 9.2 shall be kept at the Coalition's office or at such other place as the Board of Directors may decide.

## 10. ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

- 10.1 The Coalition shall, in each year, hold an Annual General Meeting, hereafter referred to as AGM.
- 10.2 The AGM shall be held on such day (being not later than five [5] months after the close of the financial year of the Coalition) as the Board of Directors may determine.
- 10.3 The AGM shall be in addition to any other general meetings that may be held in the same year.
- 10.4 The AGM shall be specified as such in the notice convening it.
- 10.5 The ordinary business of the AGM shall be:
- 10.5.(i) to confirm the minutes of the last preceding AGM and of any general meeting held since that meeting;
  - 10.5.(ii) to receive from the President, Executive Officer, Auditor, and other members of the Coalition, reports of the transactions of the Coalition during the last preceding financial year;
  - 10.5.(iii) to elect the Officers and other Directors of the Board of the Coalition; and
  - 10.5.(iv) to appoint the Auditor.
- 10.6 The AGM may transact special business of which notice is given in accordance with these rules. Members may attend the AGM via video-conferencing and tele-conferencing.
- 10.7 All general meetings other than the AGM shall be called Special General meetings.

## **11. SPECIAL GENERAL MEETINGS**

- 11.1 The Board of Directors may, whenever it thinks fit, convene a special general meeting of the Coalition.
- 11.2 The Board of Directors shall request not less than five members convene a special general meeting of the Coalition. Members may attend the meeting via tele-conferencing or video-conferencing.
- 11.3 A request for a special general meeting shall state the purpose of the meeting and shall be signed by the requisitionists and sent by post or email to the office of the Coalition and may consist of several documents in like form and signed by one or more of the requisitionists.
- 11.4 If the Board of Directors does not cause a special general meeting to be held within twenty-one days from the date upon which a request is deposited at the office of the Coalition, those requesting the special general meeting may convene the meeting; but any meeting so convened shall not be held after three months from the date of the deposit of the request.
- 11.5 A special general pursuance meeting convened in accordance with these rules shall be convened in the same manner, as nearly as possible, as that in which those meetings are convened by the Board of Directors.
- 11.6 The secretary must give to all members, not less the 21 days, notice of a Special General Meeting.

## **12. NOTICE OF GENERAL MEETINGS**

- 12.1 The Executive Officer of the Coalition shall ensure, at least fourteen (14) days before the date fixed for holding a general meeting of the Coalition, a notice shall be sent to all members and an advertisement inserted in a newspaper published daily in the Northern Territory specifying the place, day, and time for the holding of the meeting, and the nature of the business to be transacted thereat.

## **13. BUSINESS AND QUORUM AT GENERAL MEETINGS**

- 13.1 All business that is transacted at special general meetings and all business that is transacted at the AGM, with the exception of the ordinary business of the AGM shall be that business specified in the notice convening the meeting.
- 13.2 No item of business shall be transacted at general meeting unless a quorum of members entitled under these rules to vote is present.
- 13.3 Five (5) members personally present and eligible under these rules to vote constitute a quorum for the transaction of the business of a general meeting. This may include attendance by telephone or video conferencing.
- 13.4 If within forty five minutes, after the appointed time for the commencement of a general meeting a quorum is not present, the meeting, if convened upon the request of members, shall be dissolved; and in any other case, it shall stand adjourned to a time and place within the next fourteen (14) days specified by the chairman or by written notice given to members before the day of the adjourned meeting, and if at the adjourned meeting a quorum is not present within forty five after the time appointed, the meeting shall be

dissolved.

#### **14. PRESIDENT TO PRESIDE AT GENERAL MEETINGS**

- 14.1 The President, or in the absence of the President, the Vice President shall preside as chairperson at every general meeting of the Coalition.
- 14.2 If the President and Vice President are absent from a general meeting, the members present shall elect one of their number to preside as chairperson.

#### **15. ADJOURNMENT OF GENERAL MEETINGS**

- 15.1 The chairperson of the general meeting at which a quorum is present may, with the consent of the meeting, adjourn the meeting from time to time and place to place, but no business shall be transacted at an adjourned meeting other than the business left unfinished at the meeting at which the adjournment took place.
- 15.2 Where a meeting is adjourned for more than fourteen days, like notice of the adjourned meeting shall be given as in the case of the original meeting.
- 15.3 Except as provided in the foregoing provisions of this rule, it is not necessary to give any notice of an adjourned meeting.

#### **16. DETERMINATION OF QUESTIONS ARISING AT GENERAL MEETINGS**

- 16.1 A question arising at a general meeting of the Coalition shall be determined by a show of favour unless, before or on the declaration of the show of favour, a poll is demanded. A declaration by the chairperson that a resolution has, on a show of favour, been carried, or carried unanimously, or carried by a particular majority or lost, an entry to that effect in the minutes of the Coalition is evidence of the fact without proof of the number or proportion of the votes recorded in favour for or against that resolution.

#### **17. VOTES**

- 17.1 Upon any question arising at a general meeting of the Coalition, a member has one vote only.
- 17.2 Votes shall be given personally, or by way of nominated proxy
- 17.3 In the case of an equality of votes on a question, the motion shall lapse.

#### **18. TAKING OF POLL**

- 18.1 If at a meeting a poll on any question is demanded it shall be taken at that meeting in such manner as the chairperson may direct, and the result of the poll shall be deemed to be the resolution of the meeting on that question.

## 19. WHEN POLL TO BE TAKEN

19.1 A poll that is demanded on the election of a chairperson, or on a question of adjournment, shall be taken forthwith, and a poll that is demanded on any other question shall be taken at such time before the close of the meeting as the chairperson may direct.

## 20. PUBLIC OFFICER

20.1 The person nominated as the Public Officer shall be a member of the Coalition and shall remain in office until the person resigns or is no longer a member of the organisation.

20.2 The Board shall appoint a person who is a resident of the Northern Territory as Public Officer within fourteen (14) days of the position becoming vacant.

20.3 The duties of the Public Officer shall be in accordance with the requirements of the Act and to do such things as maybe directed by the Board or prescribed by these rules.

## 21. MANAGEMENT OF AFFAIRS OF THE COALITION

21.1 The affairs of the Coalition shall be managed by a Board of Directors constituted as provided in rule 24 and hereafter called the Board.

21.2 The Board:

21.2.(i) shall control and manage the business and affairs of the Coalition in accordance with Australian governance standards;

21.2.(ii) may, subject to these rules, exercise all such powers and functions as may be exercised by the Coalition other than those powers and functions that are required by the rules to be exercised by a decision made at general meetings of the Coalition

21.2.(iii) subject to the Act and these rules, has the power to perform all such acts and things as appear to the Board to be essential for the proper management of the business and affairs of the Coalition; and

21.2.(iv) shall have the power to appoint sub-committees for the purposes of carrying out such functions of the Coalition as the Board directs. A

## 22. OFFICERS OF THE BOARD

22.1 The officers of the Board shall make up the Executive Committee and shall be:

22.1.(i) President;

22.1.(ii) Vice President;

22.1.(iii) Secretary;

22.1.(iv) Treasurer;

22.1.(v) Executive Officer

(ex-officio).

22.2 The officers of the Board (except the position of Executive Officer) shall be elected annually at the AGM and shall hold office until the AGM next but are eligible for re-election.

22.3 In the event of a casual vacancy occurring with the officer of the Coalition (except the position of Executive Officer) the Board may appoint one of its members to the vacant office and the member so appointed shall hold office until the AGM following the date of such appointment.

## **23. GENERAL POWERS AND DUTIES OF THE BOARD**

23.1 As soon as practicable after being elected to the Board, each Board member must become familiar with the Associations Act 2003 and Regulations made under this Act.

23.2 The Board is collectively responsible for ensuring that the Association complies with the Act and regulations made under the Act.

## **24. COMPOSITION OF BOARD OF DIRECTORS**

24.1 Members of the Board will be elected as representatives of community service, health and business in the Northern Territory. As such, they are required to provide the organisation with expertise relating to their particular field of representation and to act as spokesperson from time to time on issues as they may arise.

24.2 The Board will endeavour to have at least 2 of the following mental health sector interests represented on the committee: At least two of the following mental health community sector interests shall be represented through the knowledge and experience of individual Board members:

24.2.(i) Mental Health Consumer;

24.2.(ii) Carers;

24.2.(iii) Rural or remote

24.3 The Board shall be elected at the AGM of the Coalition in each year and consist of the officers of the Coalition and 3 other members.

24.4 Each member of the Board shall, subject to these rules, hold office until the AGM next after the date of their election, when all positions are declared vacant.

24.5 In the event of a casual vacancy occurring in the membership of the Board, the Board may appoint a member of the Coalition to fill the vacancy and the member so appointed shall hold office until the AGM following the date of such appointment.

## **25. ELECTION OF OFFICERS AND MEMBERS OF THE BOARD**

25.1 The nomination of candidates for election as Board members or as officers of the Coalition shall be on the prescribed form and be delivered to the office of the Coalition fourteen days prior to the AGM.

25.2 If insufficient nominations are received to fill all vacancies on the Board, the candidates nominated are deemed to be elected and further nominations shall be received at the AGM.

- 25.3 If the number of nominations received is equal to the number of vacancies to be filled, the persons nominated shall be deemed to be elected.
- 25.4 If the number of nominations received exceeds the number of vacancies to be filled, a ballot shall be conducted.
- 25.5 The ballot for the election of officers and board members shall be conducted at the AGM in such usual and proper manner as the chairperson may direct.

## **26. LEAVE OF ABSENCE**

- 26.1 The Board may grant a leave of absence to a Board member, for a specified period, at the written request of that member.

## **27. VACATION OF OFFICE**

- 27.1 For the purpose of these rules, the office of a Board member becomes vacant if the member;
- 27.1.(i) dies;
  - 27.1.(ii) resigns office in writing and addressed to the Board;
  - 27.1.(iii) becomes bankrupt or applies to take or takes advantage of any law relating to bankrupt or insolvent debtors or compounds with his or her creditors;
  - 27.1.(iv) fail, without leave granted by the Board, to attend three consecutive meetings of the Board provided that, after the second meeting that the member has failed to attend, the member is notified in writing of the time and place of the next meeting and that failure to attend will result in the cessation of their membership of the Board.
  - 27.1.(v) Ceases to be a member of the Coalition; or
  - 27.1.(vi) fails to pay all arrears or subscriptions due by the member within thirty days after receiving a notice in writing stating that they have ceased to be a financial member of the Coalition.
  - 27.1.(vii) Loses the confidence of the Board; based on a special resolution passed by 75% of Board members. In the case of such a resolution the Board member will be given a right of reply and may opt to utilise the grievance procedure as outlined in clause 38.1.

## **28. MEETINGS OF THE BOARD**

- 28.1 The Board shall meet not less than four times in each financial year at such places and at such times as the Board may determine. The Board may meet personally, via tele-conferencing or video-conferencing.
- 28.2 Special meetings of the Board may be called by the President, the Executive Officer or by any four of its member.
- 28.3 Board meeting notices will be provided on request by members.
- 28.4 The quorum for a board meeting is fifty percent of its members plus one

## MHC CONSTITUTION AND RULES OF THE ASSOCIATION

---

- 28.5 If a quorum is not present after thirty minutes of the time appointed for the meeting, the meeting may be adjourned to a date and time agreed by the members or it may take place with the business recorded being ratified at the next meeting at which a quorum is present.
- 28.6 At meetings of the Board:
- 28.6.(i) the President, or in the absence of the President, the Vice President; or
- 28.6.(ii) if the President and the Vice President are absent, one of the remaining members of the Board chosen by the members present, shall preside.
- 28.7 Decisions will be made by a process of consensus in the first instance. If there is a failure to reach consensus the matter shall be put to a vote and a simple majority will prevail. In the event of an equality of votes, the motion shall lapse.
- 28.8 Questions arising at meetings of the Board, the Executive or of any sub-committee appointed by the Board, shall be determined by a show of favour, or if demanded, by a poll taken in such manner as the chairperson of the meeting may determine.
- 28.9 Board meetings are open to all members of the Coalition and Directors of the Board and the Executive Officer shall be entitled to one vote and in the event of an equality of votes, the motion shall lapse. Issues may be raised and voted on electronically by "REPLY-ALL" email to all Board Members. The Executive Officer will minute any issues raised electronically and the outcome by vote.

### 29. DISCLOSURE OF INTEREST IN CONTRACTS

- 29.1 A member of the board who has any interest in any contract or arrangement made or proposed to be made with the Coalition, shall disclose that interest at the first meeting of the Board at which the contract or arrangement is first taken into consideration, or in any other case, at the first meeting of the Board after the acquisition of the interest.
- 29.2 If a member of the Board becomes interested in a contract or arrangement after it has been made or entered into, the member shall disclose that interest at the first meeting of the Board after becoming so interested.
- 29.3 No member of the Board shall vote as a member of the Board in respect of any contract or arrangement in which that member is so interested and if the member does so vote that vote shall not be counted.

### 30. THE EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE

- 30.1 There shall be an Executive Committee of the Board made up of the Officers of the Coalition and the Executive Officer:
- 30.1.(i) the Executive Committee has the power to interpret the policies and determine the priorities of the Coalition on behalf of the Board in order to assist the Executive Officer with the day to day management of the Coalition;
- 30.1.(ii) the Executive Committee shall meet as required but not less than four times per year and shall report to each Board meeting;
- 30.1.(iii) the quorum of the Executive Committee shall be fifty percent of its current

membership plus one; and

- 30.1.(iv) decisions will be made by a process of consensus in the first instance. If there is a failure to reach consensus the matter shall be put to a vote and a simple majority will prevail. In the event of an equality of votes, the motion shall lapse.

### **31. ANNUAL SUBSCRIPTION**

- 31.1 The annual subscription payable by members shall be prescribed by the Board.
- 31.2 The amount of the annual subscription may be altered from time to time by the Board by resolution to take effect from July 1<sup>st</sup> of the new financial year. The first day of the financial year next.
- 31.3 The annual subscription of members is due and payable on or before July 1<sup>st</sup> of the new financial year. The first day of the financial year of the Coalition.

### **32. FINANCIAL YEAR**

- 32.1 The financial year of the Coalition shall be the period from the 1<sup>st</sup> July to the 30<sup>th</sup> June in the succeeding year. next following.

### **33. NOTICES**

- 33.1 A notice may be served by or on behalf of the Coalition upon any member either personally or by sending it electronically or through the post in a prepaid letter addressed to the member at the last known postal address.

### **34. EXPULSION OF MEMBERS**

- 34.1 Subject to this rule, the Board may expel any member from the Coalition if, in the opinion of the Board the member has been guilty of conduct detrimental to the interests of the Coalition.
- 34.2 The expulsion of a member pursuant to rule 34.1 does not take effect:
- 34.2.(i) until the expiration of fourteen days after the service on the member of a notice under rule 34; or
  - 34.2.(ii) if the member exercises their right of appeal under this rule, until the conclusion of a special general meeting convened to hear the appeal, whichever is the later date.
- 34.3 Where the Board expels a member from the Coalition, the Public Officer of the Coalition shall, without undue delay serve on the member, a notice in writing:
- 34.3.(i) stating that the Board has expelled the member;
  - 34.3.(ii) specifying the grounds for the expulsion; and
  - 34.3.(iii) informing the member that if they so desire they may, within fourteen days of being serviced with the notice, appeal against the expulsion as provided in this rule.

- 34.4 A member on whom a notice under rule 34 is served may appeal against the expulsion to a special general meeting by delivering or sending by post to the Public

## **MHC CONSTITUTION AND RULES OF THE ASSOCIATION**

---

Officer of the Coalition, within fourteen days after the service of that notice, a requisition in writing demanding the convening of such a meeting for the purpose of hearing the appeal.

34.5 Upon receipt of a request under rule 34.4 the Public Officer shall forthwith notify the Board of its receipt and the Board shall thereupon cause a special general meeting of members to be held within twenty-one days after the date on which the requisition is received by the Public Officer.

34.6 At a special general meeting convened for the purpose of this rule:

34.6.(i) no business other than the question of the expulsion and the Board's reasons for the expulsion shall be transaction;

34.6.(ii) the Board may place before the meeting details of the grounds of the expulsion and the Board's reasons for the expulsion;

34.6.(iii) the expelled member shall be given an opportunity to be heard; and 34.6.(iv) the members present shall vote by secret ballot on the question whether the expulsion should be lifted or confirmed.

34.7 If at the special meeting a majority of the members' present vote in favour of the lifting of the expulsion the expulsion shall be lifted and the expelled member is entitled to continue their membership of the Coalition.

34.8 If at the special general meeting a majority of the members' present vote in favour of the confirmation of expulsion, the expulsion takes effect, and the expelled member ceases to be a member of the Coalition.

### **35. ALTERATION OF THE CONSTITUTION**

35.1 These rules may be amended by a special resolution passed by a three quarters majority of eligible members voting at a general meeting convened for that purpose.

35.2 Notice of the proposed amendment shall be included in the notice calling the general meeting.

35.3 An amendment of the objects, purposes or rules is of no effect until approved by the Registrar.

35.4 An alteration of the objects, purposes or rules is of no effect until a copy of the alteration is lodged with the Registrar of Associations in the NT.

### **36. COMMON SEAL**

36.1 The seal of the Coalition shall be in the form of a rubber stamp inscribed with the name of the Coalition encircling the word "seal".

36.2 The seal shall not be affixed to any instrument except by authority of a resolution of the Board and in the presence of at least two members of the Board, or of one member of the Board and such other person as the Board may appoint for that purpose and that attestation is sufficient for all purposes that the seal was affixed by authority of the Board.

36.3 The seal shall remain in the custody of the Executive Officer.

36.4 The use of the common seal must be recorded in a register maintained for that purpose.

## 37. WINDING UP

- 37.1 In the event of the Coalition being wound up any amount which remains after such dissolution and the satisfaction of the Coalition's debts and liabilities, shall be paid and applied by the Board in accordance with their power to any fund, institution or authority which itself is exempt from income tax and which has compatible aims and objects to the Coalition.
- 37.2 If the organisation is wound up or its endorsement as a deductible gift recipient is revoked (whichever occurs first), any surplus of the following assets shall be transferred to another organisation to which income tax deductible gifts can be made:
- Gifts of money or property for the principal purpose of the organisation
  - Contributions made in relation to an eligible fundraising event held for the principal purpose of the organisation
  - Money received by the organisation because of such gifts and contributions

## 38. GRIEVANCE AND DISPUTES PROCEDURES

- 38.1 This clause applies to disputes between:
- 38.1.(i) a member and another member; or
  - 38.1.(ii) a member and the Committee.
- 38.2 Within fourteen (14) days after the dispute comes to the attention of the parties to the dispute, they must meet and discuss the matter in dispute, and, if possible, resolve the dispute.
- 38.3 If the parties are unable to resolve the dispute at the meeting, or if a party fails to attend that meeting, then the parties must, within ten (10) days after the meeting, hold another meeting in the presence of a mediator.
- 38.4 The mediator must be:
- 38.4.(i) a person chosen by agreement between the parties; or
  - 38.4.(ii) in the absence of agreement:
    - 38.4.(ii) (a) for a dispute between a member and another member – a person appointed by the Committee; or
    - 38.4.(ii) (b) for a dispute between a member and the Committee – a person who is a mediator appointed or employed by the department administering the Act.
  - 38.4.(iii) A member of the Association can be a mediator.
  - 38.4.(iv) The mediator cannot be a party to the dispute.
  - 38.4.(v) The parties to the dispute must, in good faith, attempt to settle the dispute by mediation.
  - 38.4.(vi) The mediator, in conducting the mediation, must:

- 38.4.(vi) (a) give the parties to the mediation process every opportunity to be heard;
  - 38.4.(vi) (b) allow due consideration by all parties of any written statement submitted by any party; and
  - 38.4.(vi) (c) ensure natural justice is accorded to the parties to the dispute throughout the mediation process.
- 38.4.(vii) The mediator must not determine the dispute.
- 38.4.(viii) If the mediation process does not result in the dispute being resolved, the parties may seek to resolve the dispute in accordance with the Act or otherwise at law.



NT MHCPO Box 1128  
NIGHTCLIFF NT 0814  
(08) 8948-2665